RECEIVED

Feb 06 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Jennifer B. McCoy, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2024-001254

Eric Bernard Bowman,

Appellant,

v.

Wallace Blair Crosby

Respondent,

AND

Samantha Albert

Respondent.

v.

Eric Bernard Bowman

Appellant.

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

s/Raymond D. Turner

Raymond D. Turner (SC Bar #101593)

Michael T. Coulter (SC Bar #15177)

497 St. Andrews Blvd

Charleston, SC 29407

T: 843.981.5180

Attorneys for Appellant

I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1) DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL WHERE RESPONDENTS' CLOSING ARGUMENTS CONCERNED FACTS NOT IN EVIDENCE?
- 2) DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL *NISI REMITTUR* AND NEW TRIAL ABSOLUTE WHERE THE JURY VERDICT WAS EXCESSIVE AND UNSUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE?
- 3) DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR JNOV WHERE THE JURY VERDICT FOR PUNITIVE DAMAGES WAS GROSSLY EXCESSIVE?
- 4) DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN GRANTING RESPONDENTS' MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT ON ASSAULT AND BATTERY?
- 5) DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S REQUEST FOR JURY CHARGES?

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This lawsuit arises out of an incident that occurred on October 5, 2018, outside of Dunleavy's Pub ("Dunleavy's") on Sullivan's Island. Appellant Eric Bowman ("Bowman") and his wife were attempting to leave Dunleavy's in their golf cart. Bowman had an outstanding bar tab at Dunleavy's, which he intended to pay at a later date. Bowman was unable to pay his bar tab on the date of the incident as Dunleavy's did not accept American Express credit cards. As Bowman and his wife were leaving, Respondent Wallace Crosby ("Crosby") stood in front of Bowman's golf cart, demanding that he pay his outstanding bar tab. Bowman struck Crosby with his golf cart, resulting in injuries to Crosby.

Bowman was charged with assault and battery in the third degree. Bowman pled guilty to assault and battery in the third degree on November 30, 2023.

Appellant filed his Summons and Complaint in the Charleston County Court of Common Pleas on July 21, 2020 against Crosby. [R. pp. 18-26]. The Complaint alleged causes of action for false imprisonment, assault, battery, malicious destruction of property, intentional infliction of emotional distress, and slander. On September 18, 2020, Respondents filed their Answer, Counterclaim and Third-Party Complaint. [R. pp. 27-37]. Crosby and Respondent Samantha Albert ("Albert") alleged causes of action for negligence/negligence per se/gross negligence, assault, intentional infliction of emotional distress. Crosby alleged causes of action for battery, malicious prosecution, abuse of process, and defamation/defamation per se. Bowman filed his Answer to the Counterclaim and Third-Party Complaint on September 30, 2020. [R. pp. 38-43].

This matter went to trial on June 10, 2024, before the Honorable Jennifer B. McCoy and concluded on June 13, 2024. The jury returned a verdict for Respondent Crosby, awarding him \$1,865,483.20 in actual damages, and \$2,798,224.80 in punitive damages. [R. pp.12-15].

On June 21, 2024, Appellant filed a Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict, a New Trial Absolute and Motion for a New Trial *Nisi Remittitur*. [R. pp. 44-53]. Appellant argued that the trial court erred by not allowing the issue of resisting unlawful arrest and the misdemeanor status of failure to pay a bar tab to go to the jury, by allowing statements regarding assets contained in an irrevocable trust, and that the verdict was not justified based on the evidence. [R. pp. 44-53]. On June 21, 2024, Appellant also filed a Motion for Post-Trial Review of Punitive Damages. [R. pp.54-55]. On July 1, 2024, the trial court found that the jury's award of punitive damages was proper. [R. pp. 6-7]. On July 18, 2024, the trial court denied Appellant's Motion for JNOV. [R. pp. 3-4].

On July 31, 2024, Appellant filed his Notice of Appeal.

III. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The record does not support the jury's award of actual and punitive damages, or the trial court's decisions. Crosby presented evidence that his actual damages totaled approximately \$358,000.00. Testimony was presented that Crosby had pre-existing issues, going all the way back to 2008. [R. p. 297, Lines 5-11]. Further, evidence was presented that Crosby had been in two motorcycle accidents prior to the incident. [R. p. 365, Lines 14-17].

During trial, Respondents argued that collateral estoppel applied to bar Bowman from taking an "inconsistent position" in his civil proceeding than that of his guilty plea. [R. P. 64, Lines 8-9]. However, Bowman was not taking an "inconsistent position." During the criminal proceeding, Bowman pled guilty to assault. Whether Bowman was unlawfully detained by Crosby, whether Crosby was the initial aggressor, or what actions Crosby undertook during the incident were not directly determined in the guilty plea.

Lastly, Appellant filed a Motion in Limine to exclude all evidence regarding the assets contained in an irrevocable trust, as well as assets not in Bowman's name. Despite this, counsel

for Respondents elicited testimony regarding Bowman’s assets and made remarks during closing arguments about Bowman’s wealth to inflame the jury’s perspective of Bowman. The remarks significantly prejudiced Bowman, resulting in an unfair and grossly excessive verdict.

IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

“In an appeal from the grant of a directed verdict, [the appellate court] must like the trial court . . . , view the evidence in a light most favorable to the non-movant.” Miller v. Ferrell Gas, L.P., Inc., 392 S.C. 295, 297, 709 S.E.2d 616, 617 (2011) (citing J.T. Baggerly v. CSX Transp. Inc., 370 S.C. 362, 368, 635 S.E.2d 97, 100 (2006)). “When viewed in that light, if there is any evidence that may be reasonably construed as creating a question of fact, the motion must be denied and the matter submitted to the jury.” Id. “If the evidence is susceptible to more than one reasonable inference, the case should be submitted to the jury.” J.T. Baggerly, at 368, 635 S.E.2d at 100–01 (internal citation omitted). “When ruling on a motion for a directed verdict, the trial court is required to deny the motion if either the evidence yields more than one inference or its inference is in doubt.” Jinks v. Richland Cnty., 355 S.C. 341, 585 S.E.2d 281, 283 (2003).

The appellate court may reverse the trial court’s decision regarding jury instructions upon a showing of an abuse of discretion. Cole v. Raut, 378 S.C. 398, 663 S.E.2d 30 (2008); Clark v. Cantrell, 339 S.C. 369, 529 S.E.2d 528 (2000); *see also* Keaton ex rel. Foster v. Greenville Hosp. Sys., 334 S.C. 488, 514S.E.2d 570 (1990) (“In reviewing jury charges for error, [the appellate court] must consider the court’s jury charge as a whole in light of the evidence and issues presented at trial.). The appellant bears the burden of demonstrating the trial court’s jury instructions were erroneous and prejudicial. Fields v. J. Haynes Waters Builders, Inc., 376 S.C. 545, 658 S.E.2d 80(2008); *see also* Pittman v. Stevens, 364 S.C. 337, 613 S.E.2d 378 (2005).

The appellate court may reverse when trial defects result in such error that is “material and prejudicial.” Visual Graphics Leasing Corp. v. Lucia, 311 S.C. 484, 429 S.E.2d 839 (Ct. App.

1993); *see also* Wells v. Halyard, 341 S.C. 234, 533 S.E.2d 341 (Ct. App. 2000); La Salle Bank Nat'l Ass'n v. Davidson, 386 S.C. 276, 688 S.E.2d 121 (2009). When the combination of such trial defects and errors are individually insignificant, the cumulative effect of each error may “prevent[] a party from receiving a fair trial.” State v. Johnson, 334 S.C. 78, 512 S.E.2d 795 (1999); State v. Freeman, 319 S.C. 110, 459 S.E.2d 867 (Ct. App. 1995). But *see* Lynch v. Carolina Self Storage Centers, Inc., 409 S.C. 146, 760 S.E.2d 111 (Ct. App. 2014) (questioning whether cumulative error doctrine applies in civil cases).

V. ARGUMENT

A. The Circuit Court Erred in Denying Bowman’s Motion For A New Trial Where Respondents’ Closing Arguments Concerned Facts That Were Not In Evidence.

Closing arguments must be confined to evidence in the record and reasonable inferences therefrom. State v. Huggins, 325 S.C. 103, 107, 481 S.E.2d 114, 116 (1997). “In a closing argument to the jury, an attorney may not make such remarks which are unfairly calculated to arouse passion or prejudice.” Gathers v. Harris Teeter Supermarket, Inc., 282 S.C. 220, 231, 317 S.E.2d 748, 755 (Ct.App.1984). Matters not admitted into evidence cannot be introduced by way of closing argument. State v. Sinclair, 275 S.C. 608, 274 S.E.2d 411 (1981). Reference in closing arguments to matters not in evidence may be deemed reversible error. State v. Gaines, 271 S.C. 65, 244 S.E.2d 539 (1978).

South Carolina case law does not stand for the proposition that matters not in evidence may be introduced by way of closing arguments. *See* State v. Sinclair, 275 S.C. 608, 274 S.E.2d 411 (1981) (holding that closing arguments cannot be used as a vehicle to introduce new matters into a trial which otherwise have not been properly admitted into evidence.) In Adams v. Orr, 260 S.C. 92, 194 S.E.2d 232 (1973), the South Carolina Supreme Court found that counsel’s argument to

the jury that a verdict in plaintiff's favor would not cost the defendant one cent was, "beyond question a hint to the jury that the defendants had liability insurance." *Id.* at 235. In *Orr*, counsel's statement to constituted error.¹

Here, during closing arguments, Respondents' counsel stated the following:

"How do you punish a rich guy (inaudible)? You make every mistake (inaudible) huge household, sold Battery the Charleston (inaudible) for a pile of money, sold his company for a pile of money."

[R. p. 408, Line 24 – p. 409, Line 3]. Bowman's counsel filed a Motion in Limine to exclude all evidence concerning assets that were not in Bowman's name, or that were held in any irrevocable trusts.² [R. pp. 56-58]. During trial, Respondents' counsel sought to elicit testimony regarding assets held in an irrevocable trust, such as the proceeds of the sale of the Charleston Battery and the sale of Bowman's business. There was no evidence admitted regarding the irrevocable trust and the assets held within it. It was completely inappropriate, and contrary to South Carolina case law, for Respondents' counsel to make remarks about the trust's assets during closing arguments when no such evidence had been introduced. Like in *Orr*, the statements unfairly aroused passion and prejudice with the jury, amount to an error. Therefore, the trial court erred in denying Bowman's Motion for a New Trial.

B. The Circuit Court Erred In Denying Bowman's Motion For A New Trial *Nisi Remittur* and New Trial Absolute Where The Jury Verdict Was Excessive and Unsupported By the Evidence.

"When considering a motion for a new trial based on the inadequacy or excessiveness of the jury's verdict, the trial court must distinguish between awards that are merely unduly liberal or

¹ However, reversal was not required because the Court found that the \$1,000 verdict was modest. *Adams v. Orr*, 260 S.C. 92, 194 S.E.2d 232 (1973).

² The trial court declined to rule on whether evidence regarding the Bowman's assets would be admissible until such a time arose. [R. p. 80, Lines 8-14].

conservative and awards that are actuated by passion, caprice, or prejudice.” Elam v. S.C. Dept. of Transp., 602 S.E.2d 772, 778 (S.C. 2004). “A circuit court may grant a new trial absolute on the ground that the verdict is excessive or inadequate.” Brinkley v. S.C. Dep't of Corr., 386 S.C. 182, 687 S.E.2d 54, 56 (Ct. App. 2009). “[W]hen the verdict indicates the jury was unduly liberal in determining damages, the trial court alone has the power to reduce the verdict by granting of a new trial nisi remitter.” Allstate Ins. Co. v. Durham, 314 S.C. 529, 431 S.E.2d 557 (1993).

Here, Respondent Crosby introduced evidence of three surgeries and claimed medical costs totaling approximately \$358,000 as a result of the accident. However, Crosby’s treating physician, Dr. Richard Frisch testified that Crosby suffered from degenerative changes, which predated the accident. [R. p. 326, Line 25 – p. 327, Line 6]. Evidence was introduced suggesting that Crosby’s alleged medical costs were not the result of the accident. Testimony was presented that Crosby had pre-existing issues, going all the way back to 2008. [R. p. 297, Lines 5-11]. Further, evidence was presented that Crosby had been in two motorcycle accidents prior to the incident. [R. p. 365, Lines 14-17]. Further, evidence was presented that Crosby was able to engage in activities after the incident that he claimed he was unable to. Yet, the jury still awarded Crosby \$1,865,483.20 in actual damages. [R. pp. 12-15]. This amount is almost six times the amount of damages claimed.

In addition, during deliberations, the jury submitted a note which read: “can we have the list of items that apply to actual damages?”. [R. p. 415, Lines 17-19]. The trial court declined the jury’s request, and stated:

THE COURT: That’s the problem with throwing out these extra things and then they’re confused as to why they don’t have it all.

[R. p. 416, Lines 10-12].

It is clear from the record that, not only was there a lack of evidence to support the jury's award, but also the jury was confused about actual damages. The jury's award was actuated by passion and prejudice based on counsel for Respondents' remarks during closing arguments regarding Bowman's wealth and assets. These remarks were inflammatory remarks, which resulted in clear prejudice. Moreover, the jury's award of actual damages was the result of confusion. Therefore, the trial court erred in denying Bowman's Motion for a New Trial Absolute and New Trial *Nisi Remittitur*.

C. The Circuit Court Erred in Denying Bowman's Motion for JNOV Where the Jury Verdict for Punitive Damages Was Grossly Excessive.

In South Carolina, "in order to receive an award of punitive damages, the plaintiff has the burden of proving by clear and convincing evidence the defendant's misconduct was willful, wanton, or in reckless disregard of the plaintiff's rights." Lister v. NationsBank of Delaware, N.A., 329 S.C. 133, 494 S.E.2d 449 (Ct. App. 1997). The Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment prohibits states from imposing grossly excessive punishments on tortfeasors. BMW of N. Am., Inc. v. Gore, 517 U.S. 559, 116 S. Ct. 1589, 134 L. Ed. 2d 809 (1996).

The South Carolina Supreme Court developed an eight factor post-verdict review which trial courts are required to conduct to determine if a punitive damages award comport with due process. See Gamble v. Stevenson, 305 S.C. 104, 406 S.E.2d 350 (1991). The Gamble factors are: (1) the defendant's degree of culpability; (2) duration of the conduct; (3) defendant's awareness or concealment; (4) the existence of similar past conduct; (5) the likelihood the award will deter the defendant or others from like conduct; (6) whether the award is reasonably related to the harm likely to result from such conduct; (7) the defendant's ability to pay; and (8) other factors deemed appropriate. Id. at 354.

Most importantly, “[r]eference to [the defendant’s] assets ... ha[s] little to do with the actual harm sustained by the [plaintiff]. The wealth of a defendant cannot justify an otherwise unconstitutional punitive damages award.” Branham v. Ford Motor Co., 390 S.C. 203, 701 S.E.2d 5, 25 (2010) (quoting State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Campbell, 538 U.S. 408, 427, 123 S.Ct. 1513, 155 L.Ed.2d 585 (2003)). “[F]ew awards exceeding a single-digit ratio between punitive and compensatory damages, to a significant degree, will satisfy due process.” Campbell, 123 S.Ct. at 1516.

As stated, Respondents’ counsel made remarks regarding Bowman’s assets in front of the jury. [R. p 408, Line 24 – p. 409, Lines 3]. Bowman testified that he would never intentionally “dine and dash”, nor would he ever run out on a bar tab. [R. p. 102, Lines 2-7]. Further, Bowman testified that Crosby was the initial aggressor and started punching the golf cart, jumping on top of it. [R. p. 103, Lines 10-15]. Bowman also testified that he was attempting to go around Crosby, who then took a swing at Bowman’s golf cart. [R. p. 103, Lines 17-19]. Crosby himself testified that he stepped in front of Bowman’s golf cart on his own accord. [R. p. 216, Lines 19-21]. Moreover, witness testimony that suggested that Crosby was not confrontational, was the testimony of friends of the Respondents. [R. p. 237, Lines 12-14]. Therefore, there was not a plethora of evidence suggesting that Bowman’s conduct was willful, wanton or reckless. In fact, evidence was presented that Crosby’s conduct was reckless and wanton. Any evidence suggesting that Bowman acted recklessly came from friends of Respondents.

The evidence presented does not support a jury award of \$2,798,224.80 in punitive damages, which is almost double the amount of actual damages awarded. As the trial court’s order on post-trial review of punitive damages indicates, Bowman may have been the party that bore the greatest degree of culpability, he was not the only party culpable. [R. pp. 6-7]. As such, the jury’s

award of punitive damages stemmed from Respondents' mention of Bowman's wealth and assets. Respondents' mention of the inadmissible evidence denied Bowman a fair trial, manipulating the jury to assume that Bowman could pay a multimillion-dollar verdict. Therefore, the trial court erred in denying Bowman's Motion for JNOV as the jury's award of punitive damages was grossly excessive and unsupported by the evidence.

D. The Circuit Court Erred In Granting Respondents' Motion For Directed Verdict on Assault and Battery.

"An 'assault' is an attempt or offer, with force or violence, to inflict bodily harm on another or engage in some offensive conduct." Mellen v. Lane, 377 S.C. 261, 659 S.E.2d 236, 244 (Ct. App. 2008). "An assault occurs when a person has been placed in reasonable fear of bodily harm by the conduct of the defendant." Gathers v. Harris Teeter Supermarket, Inc., 282 S.C. 220, 230, 317 S.E.2d 748, 754–755 (Ct.App.1984). The elements of assault are: (1) conduct of the defendant which places the plaintiff, (2) in reasonable fear of bodily harm." Herring v. Lawrence Warehouse Co., 222 S.C. 226, 241, 72 S.E.2d 453, 458 (1952).

"A battery is the actual infliction of any unlawful, unauthorized violence on the person of another, irrespective of its degree; it is unnecessary that the contact be by a blow, as an forcible contact is sufficient." Gathers, 282 S.C. at 230. "There is a well[-]recognized distinction between criminal assault and a civil action for an assault and battery." Herring, 222 S.C. at 241.

For collateral estoppel to apply, it must be shown that the issue was: "(1) actually litigated in the prior action; (2) directly determined in the prior action; (3) necessary to support the prior judgment." "A party asserting the defense of collateral estoppel has the burden of proving all of the elements, including whether the issue was actually litigated." Carrigg v. Cannon, 347 S.C. 75, 552 S.E.2d 767, 770 (Ct. App. 2001). The party asserting collateral estoppel "must show that the issue was actually litigated and directly determined in the prior action and that the matter or fact

directly in issue was necessary to support the first judgment.” Beall v. Doe, 281 S.C. 363, 371, 315 S.E.2d 186, 191 (Ct.App.1984).

Here, during trial, Respondents’ counsel moved for a directed verdict on all of Bowman’s claims. The trial court granted Respondents’ directed verdict with respect to their claims for assault and battery based on collateral estoppel. [R. p. 374, Lines 6-8]. The statement of facts read into the record during Bowman’s guilty plea did not concern or address the actions of Mr. Crosby or any defenses of Bowman. [R. pp. 423-447].

During the trial, Respondents’ counsel argued that Zurcher v. Bilton, 379 S.C. 132, 666 S.E.2d 224 (2008), estopped Bowman from charging the jury with assault and battery. However, the facts of Zurcher are distinguishable from the case at bar. In Zurcher, the Court held that “so long as a defendant has entered a guilty plea freely and voluntarily, an admission of guilt fully and fairly litigates the matter in the same manner as a contested trial in which a defendant is adjudicated guilty. Id. at 136. Interestingly, the court noted that only guilty pleas punishable by death or imprisonment in excess of one year were admissible under the hearsay exception found in Rule 803(2). Id. at 138 n.3. The court stated that “[t]herefore it appears that Zurcher’s guilty plea to simple assault and battery, a misdemeanor carrying a \$500 fine or 30 days imprisonment ... was inadmissible hearsay evidence in the first instance.” Id. However, the court ultimately held that Zurcher was estopped from denying liability for the assault in the subsequent civil action. Id. at 137.

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