**RECEIVED**

**Feb 07 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Jennifer B. McCoy, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2024-001254  
Case No. 2020-CP-10-03043

---

Eric Bernard Bowman,

Appellant,

v.

Wallace Blair Crosby,

Respondent,

AND

Samantha Albert,

Respondent.

v.

Eric Bernard Bowman,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS**

---

s/Clayton B. McCullough

Clayton B. McCullough, Esq., SC Bar No. 13722

McCULLOUGH KHAN, LLC

2036 eWall Street

Mount Pleasant, SC 29464

(843) 937-0400

(843) 937-0706 (fax)

clay@mklawsc.com

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

## ARGUMENT

### **I. The Circuit Court Correctly Denied Appellant’s Motion for a New Trial Because Respondent’s Closing Argument Did Not Include a Reference to Evidence Not Introduced in the Trial and Because Respondent Did Not Preserve this Issue for Appeal.**

As a starting point, this issue is not ripe for appellate review as it was not preserved at trial.

The very limited statement made during Closing Argument consists entirely in these two sentences:

“How do you punish a rich guy (inaudible)? You make every mistake (inaudible) huge household, sold the Battey the Charleston Battery for a pile of money, sold his company for a pile of money.”

There was no objection made in trial court related to or arising from this statement. Bowman’s counsel said nothing about this statement during or after the closing argument. Furthermore, the testimony giving rise to this statement came out of the direct testimony of Eric Bowman.

Q. You were living there (Sullivans Island) when this incident occurred?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. That’s a five-bedroom, four and a half bath, 4,945 foot – square foot house on Sullivan’s Island?

A. Probably. Close to that.

Q. It was listed for rent with the monthly rental in November of 2023 for monthly income of \$39,500 per month?

A. I did not list it.

Q. You (audible).

A. Possibly.

Q. You used to own the Charleston Battery soccer team and everything that came with it?

A. I did not at – I owned part of the team. I believe the stuff that came with it was owned by a trust.

- Q. Did it get sold in 2019?
- A. Yes. November of 2019.
- Q. And you were an owner of SPARC that you described previously?
- A. Correct.
- Q. It was sold in 2015 for \$53 million.
- A. That's not accurate.
- Q. What did you sell it for?
- A. I don't know offhand.
- Q. And you received approximately \$27 million?
- A. That's not accurate.
- Q. How much did you receive to your benefit?
- A. I don't know offhand.

[R. pp. 130-131]

Again, there was no objection made during this line of questioning. So not only did the statement included in the closing argument come directly from the testimony of Eric Bowman, it was not objected to in either the original testimony or during the closing argument.

In order to preserve a trial error for appellate review, the Appellant's objection at trial must be contemporaneous to the introduction of the objectionable evidence. *State v. Byers*, 392 S.C.428, 710 S.E.2d 55 (2011). Appellant's brief references a motion in limine filed seeking to exclude testimony related to an irrevocable trust. First, Judge McCoy made no ruling on the motion in limine. Regardless, the granting or denying of a motion in limine does not remove the need to make contemporaneous objection at trial. *State v. Schumpert*, 312 S.C. 502, 435 S.E.2d 859 (1993).

Second, the evidence / testimony at issue relates to Bowman's assets, including the value of the house he lives in, how much he received from his sale of the Charleston Battery, and what he received from the sale of his company. There were no questions about trust assets. Third, there was no objection to the line of questioning at issue. Finally, the reliance on the unrled upon motion in limine is baseless. "It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review." *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 497 S.E.2d 731 (1998). Here, the issue was neither raised at the trial level nor ruled upon by the court. The court must rule upon the issue for it to be preserved for review. *Id.*

The very limited two sentence unobjected to statement in closing argument was not prejudicial. It was based on the prior sworn testimony of Bowman. It did not create jury confusion and should not be a basis to grant a new trial.

**II. The Circuit Court Correctly Denied Bowman's Motion for a New Trial *Nisi Remittitur* and New Trial Absolute, as the Jury Verdict was Reasonable and Supported by the Evidence.**

The jury verdict in this case was \$1,865,483.20 (actual damages) and \$2,798,224.80 (punitive damages). There was significant evidence introduced at trial detailing the extensive injuries Crosby suffered as a direct and proximate result of Bowman intentionally crashing his low-speed vehicle / golf cart into Crosby two times. The evidence established the medical expenses totaled \$386,452.61 [R. pp. 206, 448-451]. Crosby testified that following the incident he felt like he "had been run over by a train." [R. p. 195]. From the date of the incident until today Crosby is a totally different person. He was diagnosed with a left shoulder SLAP tear, a right shoulder SLAP tear, and complete rotator cuff tear. [R. p. 251]. After conservative treatments failed he had to undergo two separate shoulder surgeries. [R. p. 256]. Between the two surgeries

and after the second shoulder surgery Crosby had to undergo months of extensive and painful physical therapy. [R. pp. 260-261, 264]. Dr. Adam Schaaf testified that even after the two surgeries and months of physical therapy, Crosby still had a 15% left shoulder impairment rating and a 20% right shoulder impairment rating. [R. p. 267].

Crosby also suffered a lower back injury. He was diagnosed with an annular tear at L5-S1 by Dr. Richard Frisch. [R. pp. 296-297]. After receiving multiple epidural injections to alleviate the pain, Crosby ultimately had a lumbar spinal fusion with bone graft surgery. [R. pp. 298-319]. Crosby then continued to go to extensive physical therapy to deal with his back injury. [R. pp. 321-322]. The evidence at trial established Crosby was in continuous medical treatment for over a year and a half.

In addition to the medical expenses and procedures, there was extensive testimony about the impact this incident had on Crosby's physical health and quality of life. Crosby testified:

"Every aspect of my life has changed. As far as doing things like around the house, for example, simple things that you wouldn't even think twice of. Now, I've got to find somebody to do it. If I can't do it or my wife can't do it, we've got to hire somebody to do it. My -- as far as things like with my -- with our daughter for example, like there are limitations that I have of things that I would like to be able to do with her that I can't do. I got to depend on somebody else to do. Simple things like going grocery shopping, you might think like, "Oh, I'll take -- I'll carry -- it'll take me two trips to carry this stuff into the house." It'll take me five if I don't have someone there to help me. So it is just -- it's extremely slowed down my life and has taken away at least half, if not more than what I used to be able to enjoy. And physical and outdoor activities and just -- not just that, but things that I would do with family and friends that I'm no longer a part of because I can't do it." [R. pp. 207-208]

His wife Albert testified:

- Q. How has this impacted your -- and again, this is only your observation, what has this done to him emotionally?
- A. So when this happened, Zoe was six years old and her and her dad were very close. As I said, she was with us most of the time. We-- all three of us were very close and very bonded. And the biggest part is him not being able

to do things with her, which upsets him. And he's not one to cry in front of -- especially in front of Zoe. So numerous times after she would go to bed, I would spend time with him while he just unloaded and cried. "And I'm - I'm sorry, I'm not the man I used to be. I'm sorry, I can't do this to help you. I'm sorry that you're having to take care of me. I'm -- I'm sorry that I can't help my child." Just things that he had not ever experienced. And neither had I.

Q. Has it impacted his relationship with the (inaudible)?

A. Absolutely. So one of the things that we all used to do is they did it prior to me coming along, but we continued until this happened is we would go to the fair every year. We would pick one day and BJ and Zoe and I would go to the fair from the time it opened till the time it closed. And once this happened, he could no longer ride rides with her. And like I said, she was six, she didn't understand. So I would ride rides with her. I would have to do everything with her. When she was six years old on her birthday, prior to this happening, her birthday was in May and this happened in October. She got a hover board for her birthday and BJ had bought a hover board as well so that he could go out and ride with her and teach her how to ride it. And that was no more. So she kind of lost interest in that because that was something that they would do together. She was in karate at seven years old. She had been in it for a couple years and once she -- he couldn't practice with her and stuff, she lost interest in it. She didn't want to do it anymore. When she was eight, she got a trampoline for Christmas from her grandmother. BJ couldn't put it together, so I had to get my nephew to come over and put that together. BJ was really upset over it because it's a big gift for an 8-year-old. When she was nine, she got a basketball goal. Again, he couldn't put it together. We didn't want to deny her these things. We had to figure out a way to put these things together and get somebody to help us. When she was eight, she had a roller-skating party. He couldn't roller skate with her when she was nine, she had a bowling party. He couldn't bowl with her. She -- the earlier times, 6, 7, 8 years old, she would get very emotional. She wanted her dad to do these things with her. But as she's gotten older and she's 12 now. Now, her biggest question is why would somebody do this to my dad? She understands. She still gets frustrated. We took her to the water park last week. "Dad, please ride a slide with me." "I can't." She knows that, but she's never going to stop asking him to do it with her because she wants her dad to participate.

[R. pp. 353-355]

"In South Carolina, an appellate court must uphold a jury verdict if it is possible to reconcile its various features. Furthermore, a jury verdict should be upheld when it is possible to

do so and carry into effect the jury's clear intention. When the jury's verdict is inadequate or excessive, the trial [court] has the discretionary power to grant a new trial *nisi*. Compelling reasons, however, must be given to justify invading the jury's province in this manner. The grant or denial of a motion for a new trial *nisi* rests within the discretion of the trial [court] and [its] decision will not be disturbed on appeal unless [its] findings are wholly unsupported by the evidence or the conclusions reached are controlled by error of law. This [c]ourt has the duty to review the record and determine whether there has been an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law." *Sapp v. Wheeler*, 402 S.C.502, 741 S.E.2d 565 (Ct. App. 2013) (internal citations omitted).

Here, there is ample evidence to support the jury's verdict. It is not excessive based on the extensive and painful injuries suffered. Additionally, the specific dollar figure awarded shows the jury took its deliberations seriously and evaluated the damages carefully when make its decision. There is no compelling reason to invade the jury's province and disturb its verdict. There was no abuse of discretion by the Court.

Finally, Appellant's brief argues that the Jury's question related to asking for the list of items that apply to actual damages shows they were confused. The list of items at issue was a list of the available elements allowed in South Carolina for actual damages. The list came directly from the Court's jury charges. There was no objection made at the time the list was presented or when the jury asked its question. It was nothing more than a written list of allowable damages taken from the Court's jury charges. It created no confusion and, additionally, this issue was not preserved at trial.

### **III. The Circuit Court Correctly Denied Bowman's Motion for JNOV Because the Jury Verdict for Punitive Damages Was Not Excessive.**

As stated above when discussing the actual damage verdict, the punitive damage award of \$2,798,224.80 should be affirmed. This is based on several considerations. First, Bowman was clearly the aggressor in this incident. He intentionally and unlawfully ran his vehicle into Crosby not once but twice, causing significant personal injuries to Crosby. Second, he fled the scene after striking Crosby and: 1) called 911 and reported that his wife had been kidnapped; and 2) refused to return to the scene to provide a statement. [R. pp. 279-283]. Then, in an effort to undermine his criminal charge, filed a lawsuit against Crosby claiming that Crosby was the aggressor. He then went so far, in the presence of the jury, to deny the very soliloquy on the record with the Judge and Solicitor when he pled guilty to the criminal charge surrounding this event, despite the fact it was quoted from the Court's transcript.

“[W]hen under proper allegations a plaintiff proves a willful, wanton, reckless, or malicious violation of his rights, it is not only the right but the duty of the jury to award punitive damages.” *Sample v. Gulf Refining Co.*, 183 S.C. 399, 410, 191 S.E. 209, 214 (1937); *Broom v. Southeastern Highway Contracting Co., Inc.*, 291 S.C. 93, 352 S.E.2d 302, 305 (Ct. App. 1986). “In South Carolina punitive damages are allowed in the interest of society in the nature of punishment and as a warning and example to deter the wrongdoer and others from committing like offenses in the future. Moreover, they serve as a vindication of private rights when it is proved that such have been wantonly, willfully or maliciously violated.” *Gamble v. Stevenson*, 305 S.C. 104, 406 S.E.2d 350 (1991).

Bowman was charged with Assault and Battery 2<sup>nd</sup> Degree and Leaving the Scene of an Accident. He subsequently pled guilt to Assault and Battery 3<sup>rd</sup> Degree admitting to unlawfully

injuring Crosby. Multiple witnesses at trial testified Bowman was the clear aggressor and intentionally caused this accident.

Crosby testified:

- A. I was wearing shorts and a t-shirt and I had flip-flops on. Once I got hit, I went flailing backwards, throwing my arms backwards in the air, just trying to catch my balance as if you were like falling backwards off a log or anything whatsoever. By the time I finally had regained my balance and just realized, Oh my God, I think I got hit. I -- immediately looked up and then when I looked up, I mean, I guess maybe I had a foot or two's notice to before I could throw my hands up. Otherwise, it would've been my face impacting the windshield. I was able to manage to get my hands up and I got nailed. The last thing I remember upon impact was just seeing the glass just spider webbing all across the windshield. I remember seeing that vision. That's what I say, it's burned into my brain. It still is. Once I went backwards, my tailbone made impact with the asphalt first. The momentum of me flying backwards, then my right shoulder went down and then I was completely laid out.

[R. pp. 187-188]

Albert testified:

- A. At that point, Mr. Bowman told his wife to get off the golf cart and ran into BJ. He kind of went backwards, lost his footing. As he was coming to up on his feet, Mr. Bowman slammed on his gas and ran into him at full speed a second time. I couldn't believe what I was watching. I -- I've never witnessed anything like this before, let alone I had just lost my mom a year prior. This was the person in my life and here I'm watching him get run over like, I'm going to lose him too. I just couldn't believe what I was -- it was in -- it -- you just can't believe what you're seeing is really what it is. You are in shock.

[R. p. 344]

Savannah Rippey testified:

- A. Honestly, it was the craziest thing. Mr. Bowman just charged at BJ in the golf cart and violently hit him knocking BJ to the ground.
- Q. Okay. Did -- did you -- were you close enough to hear and see everything that was transpiring between them?
- A. Yes.

- Q. Did BJ do anything or say anything to provoke Mr. Bowman?
- A. No, he was just asking him to pay his -- pay his bill at the bar, which is perfectly normal. And anybody would've done, I would've done it. If I was had been there at an earlier time.
- Q. Okay. And when he -- when BJ was charged, did that knock him down on the ground?
- A. Yes, it knocked him down to his knees and on his hands. And then BJ was attempting to stand up and he put his arms up and Mr. Bowman charged and violently hit him again with the golf cart. He didn't give a warning or anything, it was just like an unprovoked attack. BJ's a pretty reasonable guy from what I had encountered of being around him. Really nice, reasonable guy and for him to just charge BJ was very, very unprovoked and concerning.

[R. pp. 168-169]

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